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UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
NORTHERN DI STRICT OF | LLI NO S
EASTERN DI VI SI ON
UNI TED STATES OF ANMERI CA )
)
VS. ) No. 02 CR 892
) Hon. Suzanne B. Conlon
)

ENAAM M ARNAOUT

PLEA AGREENMENT

Thi s Pl ea Agreenent between the United States Attorney for the
Northern District of Illinois, PATRICK J. FITZGERALD, and the
def endant, ENAAMM ARNAOUT, and hi s attorneys, JOSEPHJ. DUFFY and
W LLI AMP. ZI EGELMJELLER, i s made pursuant to Rul e 11 of t he Federal
Rul es of Crim nal Procedure.

This Pl ea Agreenent is entirely voluntary and represents the
entire agreenent between the United States Attorney and def endant
regardi ng defendant's crimnal liability in case 02 CR 892.

Thi s Pl ea Agreenent concerns crimnal liability only, and not hi ng
hereinshall limt or inany way wai ve or rel ease any adm ni strati ve or
judicial civil claim demand or cause of acti on, what soever, of the
United States or its agencies. Mreover, this Agreenent islimtedto
the United States Attorney's O fice for the Northern District of
I'llinois and cannot bi nd any ot her federal, state or | ocal prosecuting,
admni strative or regulatory authorities except as expressly set forth
in this Agreenment.

By this Pl ea Agreenent, PATRICK J. FI TZGERALD, United St ates

Attorney for the Northern District of Illinois, and the defendant,
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ENAAMM ARNAQUT, and his attorneys, JOSEPHJ. DUFFY and W LLI AMP.
Z| EGELMUELLER, have agreed upon the follow ng:

1. Def endant acknowl edges t hat he has been charged i nthe second
superseding indictnent (“indictnent”) inthis case withracketeering
conspiracy, inviolation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
1962(d) [ Count 1]; conspiracy to provi de material support to persons,
organi zati ons and groups engaged in violent activities, inviolation of
Title 18, United St ates Code, Section 371 [ Count 2]; conspiracy to
| aunder proceeds of unlawful activity, inviolationof Title 18, United
St at es Code, Section 1956(h)[ Count 4]; noney | aundering, inviolation
of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 [ Count 5]; and nmail and
wirefraud, inviolationof Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341
and 1343 [Counts 6,7, and 8].

2. Def endant has read t he charges containedinthe indictnent,
and those charges have been fully explained to himby his attorney.

3. Def endant ful |l y understands the nature and el enments of the
crimes with which he has been charged.

4. Def endant will enter a voluntary plea of guilty to Count One
of the indictment in this case.

5. Def endant will plead guilty because heisinfact guilty of
t he charge contai ned i n Count One of the indictnment. In pleading
guilty, defendant admts the foll owi ng facts and rel evant conduct and

that those facts establish his guilt beyond a reasonabl e doubt:



Def endant adni ts that begi nningin or about 1993 and conti nui ng
toinor about May 2002, in Palos HIls, Wrth, and ot her | ocations in
the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and el sewhere,
def endant, bei ng enpl oyed by and associ ated with an enterprise, nanely
Benevol ence I nternational Foundation, Inc. andits affiliated overseas
of fices, which engaged in and the activities of which affected
i nterstate and forei gn comrerce, didconspirew th others to conduct
and participate, directly andindirectly, inthe conduct of the affairs
of the enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity, that is,
t hrough mul ti pl e acts i ndi ctabl e under the | aws of the United Stat es,
nanely, 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (mail fraud) and 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (wire
fraud).

Specifically, defendant admts that in 1992, Adel Batterjee and
ot hers i ncor por at ed Benevol ence | nternati onal Foundation, Inc. (“BIF")
inlllinois. Inor about March 1993, Bl Freceived status as a tax-
exenpt organi zation fromthe I nternal Revenue Service. Beginningin or
about May 1993, def endant was responsi ble for and directed BIF' s
operations in the United States.

Def endant admits that starting in May 1993, BIF solicited
donations fromthe public by purporting that BIF and its rel ated
overseas offices was a charitabl e organi zati on i nvol ved solely in
humani tari an work for the benefit of civilian popul ati ons, incl uding

r ef ugees and orphans, with a srmall anount bei ng used for adm ni strative



expenses. Defendant adnits that he and ot hers agreed to conceal from
donors, potential donors, and federal and state governmentsinthe
United States that a material portion of the donations received by BIF
based on BI F' s m sl eadi ng represent ati ons was bei ng used t o support
fighters overseas. Defendant admts that the support he and ot hers
agreed to provi de i ncl uded: boots i ntended for ultinmate use by fighters
i n Chechnya; and boots, tents, unifornms and an anbul ance i nt ended f or
ul ti mat e use by sol di ers i n Bosni a- Her zegovi na. Defendant further
adm ts t hat he used donor funds to purchase uniforns for a depart nment
of a provisional but unrecogni zed governnent i n Chechnya despite
representations otherwi se to donors.

Def endant admits that he and others agreed to use the United
States MailstodistributefromPalos Hills, Illinoisthenultiple
m sl eadi ng solicitations descri bed above, and to cause t he use of the
United States Mail s to recei ve donations fromm sl ed donors. Defendant
further adm ts that he and others agreed to causeto betransnitted
nmul ti pl e nonetary donati ons fromm sl ed donors to Bl F s bank account s
by wire in interstate and forei gn comrerce.

Def endant acknow edges t hat t he above statenent of facts is set
forthsolelyto provide afactual foundation for this pleaof guilty
and does not constitute all the information defendant possesses

concerni ng Count One, or any related conduct.



6. Def endant under stands that the United States Attorney's
Oficewll fully apprisetheDi strict Court andthe United States
Probation O fice of the nature, scope and ext ent of def endant's conduct
regardi ng t he charges against him and related matters, including all
matters in aggravation and mtigation relevant to the issue of
sent enci ng.

7. As of the tine of the taking of this plea, the parties have
cone to no agreenent as to the application of the guidelines
promul gat ed by t he Uni t ed St at es Sent enci ng Conmi ssi on pursuant to
Title 28, United States Code, Section 994. The def endant under st ands
t hat t he Probati on Departnent will conduct its own i nvestigation and
that the Court ultimately determ nes the facts and |l awrel evant to
sentencing, and that the Court's determ nations govern the final
Sent enci ng Gui del i nes cal cul ati on. Accordingly, thevalidity of this
Agreenent is not contingent upon the parties’ or the probation
officer's sentencing gui delines cal cul ati ons.

8. Errors in calculations or interpretation of any of the
gui deli nes may be corrected prior to sentencing. The parties may
correct these errors or msinterpretations either by stipulation or by
a statenent to the probation office and/or Court setting forth the
di sagreenent as to the correct guidelines andtheir application. The

validity of this Agreenent will not be affected by such corrections,



and t he def endant shal |l not have aright tow thdrawhis pleaonthe
basi s of such corrections.

9. Def endant under st ands t he count to which hewi |l plead guilty
carries the follow ng penalties:

(a) Count One carries a maxi mum penalty of 20 years’
inprisonnment; a maxi mumfine of $250, 000, or the greater of tw cethe
gross gain or twice the gross |loss deriving fromthe offense of
conviction, and any restitution ordered by the Court.

(b) Defendant understands that this count al so carries a
termof supervisedrel ease of not | ess than two nor nore than three
years.

10. The defendant understands that i naccordw th federal |aw,
Title 18, United States Code, Section 3013, upon entry of judgnent of
conviction, the defendant will be assessed $100 i n additionto any
ot her penalty i nposed. The defendant agrees to pay the speci al
assessnment of $100 at the time of sentencing with a check or noney
order made payable to the Clerk of the U S. District Court.

11. Defendant understands that by pl eadi ng guilty he surrenders
certain rights, including the follow ng:

(a) If defendant persistedinapleaof not guilty tothe
char ges agai nst him he woul d have the ri ght to a public and speedy
trial. Thetrial couldbeeither ajurytrial or atrial by the judge

sitting without ajury. The defendant has aright toajurytrial.



However, in order that the trial be conducted by the judge sitting
wi t hout ajury, the defendant, the governnent, and the judge all nust
agree that the trial be conducted by the judge without a jury.

(b) If thetrial isajurytrial, thejury would be conposed
of twel ve | aypersons sel ect ed at random Def endant and hi s att or ney
woul d have a say i n who the jurors woul d be by renovi ng prospective
jurors for cause where actual bias or ot her disqualificationis shown,
or wi t hout cause by exerci sing so-cal |l ed perenptory chal |l enges. The
jury woul d have t o agree unani nously before it couldreturn a verdict
of either guilty or not guilty. The jury would be instructed t hat
def endant i s presuned i nnocent, and that it could not convict him
unl ess, after hearing all the evidence, it was persuaded of defendant's
gui |t beyond a reasonabl e doubt and that it was t o consi der each count
of the indictnment separately.

(c) If thetrial is heldbythejudge without ajury, the
judge would find the facts and determ ne, after hearing all the
evi dence, and consi deri ng each count separately, whether or not the
j udge was persuaded of defendant's guilt beyond a reasonabl e doubt.

(d) At atrial, whether by ajury or ajudge, the governnent
woul d be required to present its wi tnesses and ot her evi dence agai nst
def endant. Defendant woul d be able to confront those gover nment
w t nesses and his attorney woul d be abl e to cross-exam nethem In

turn, defendant coul d present w tnesses and ot her evi dence i n his own



behal f. If the wi tnesses for def endant woul d not appear voluntarily,
he coul d requi re their attendance t hrough t he subpoena power of the
court.

(e) At atrial, defendant woul d have a privil ege agai nst
self-incrimnation so that he could decline to testify, and no
inference of guilt could be drawn fromhis refusal totestify. |If
def endant desired to do so, he could testify in his own behal f.

12. Defendant understands that by pleading guilty heis waiving
all therights set forthinthe prior paragraph. Defendant's attorney
has expl ai ned those rights to him and t he consequences of hi s wai ver
of those rights. Defendant further understands he i s waiving all
appel | ate i ssues that m ght have been avail abl e i f he had exerci sed hi s
right totrial, and only nay appeal the validity of this pleaof guilty
or the sentence.

13. Defendant understands that the indictnment and this Plea
Agreenent are matters of public record and may be di scl osed to any
party.

14. Defendant agrees hew Il fully and truthfully cooperate with
t he governnent inany matter inwhich heis called uponto cooperate.
Def endant agrees to provi de conpl ete and truthful informationto any
agency of the United States as directed by a representative of the
United States Attorney for the Northern District of Illinois, inany

i nvestigationor pre-trial preparation, andto provi de conpl et e and



truthful testinmony, if called upon to testify, in any matter or
proceedi ng where called upontotestify by arepresentative of the
United States Attorney for the Northern District of Illinois.

15. At the tine of sentencing, the governnent shall make known
to t he sentenci ng j udge t he ext ent of defendant's cooperation, if any.
If, inthe governnent’s sol e di scretion, the governnment determ nes t hat
t he def endant has provided full and trut hful cooperation anmountingto
substanti al assistance as definedin Sentencing CGui deline5K1.1, the
governnment shall nove the Court, pursuant to Sentenci ng Gui deline
5K1.1, to depart fromthe fi nal sentenci ng gui deli nes range or the
stat ut ory maxi nrum whi chever is |ess, and thereafter the parties are
free to recomend any sentence they deem appropri ate. Defendant
acknow edges t hat shoul d t he gover nment det erm ne t hat def endant has
not provi ded substantial assistance, such adetermnationwl| rel ease
t he governnent fromany obligationto file a notion pursuant to Section
5K1. 1 of the Sentencing Guidelines, andwill not entitle defendant to
withdraw his guilty plea once it has been entered.

16. It i s understood by the parties that the sentencing judgeis
neither a party to nor bound by this Agreenment and subject to the
limtations of the sentencing guidelines, may i npose the maxi num
penalties as set forthin paragraph 8 above. The def endant further

acknow edges that if the Court does not accept the sentencing



recomrendati on of the parties, the defendant will have noright to
wi thdraw his guilty plea.

17. At thetime of thetakingof this plea, the parti es have cone
to no agreenent as to the appropriate anount of restitution owed to any
of the victinms of the of fense of conviction. Def endant acknow edges
that pursuant toTitle 18, United States Code, Section 3663A, the Court
nmust order defendant to nake restitutionto any victi mof the of fense
of conviction, mnus any credit for funds paid prior to sentencing.
The def endant understands that Title 18, United States Code, Section
3664 and Sections 5E1. 1 and 5E1. 2 of the Sent enci ng Gui del i nes set
forththe factors to be weighedinsettingafineandindetern ning
t he schedul e, if any, accordingtowhichrestitutionistobepaidin
this case. The defendant agrees to provide full and truthful
informationto the Court and United States Probation O ficer regardi ng
all details of his econom c circunmstances inorder to determ nethe
proper restitution schedul e accordi ngto whichthe defendant nay be
ordered to pay. Defendant understands that providing false or
i nconpl ete i nformati on nay be prosecuted as aviolationof Title 18,
United St ates Code, Section 1001, or as a contenpt of the court.
Def endant wi || cooperate fully wththe United States Attorney's Ofice
and the Uni ted States Probation Officeintheir determnation of the
appropri ate amount of restitutionto be ordered by the Court. Such

cooperation shall include truthful disclosure by the defendant of his

10



financial status, includingall tax returns and related i nformati on as
may be requested. Defendant understands that providing false or
i nconpl ete informati on may be prosecuted as aviolationof Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1001, or as a contenpt of the court.

18. After sentence has been inposed on the count to which
def endant pl eads guilty as agreed herein, the governnent will noveto
di smss with prejudicethe original indictnment, the first supersedi ng
i ndi ctment and the remaining counts of the second superseding
i ndi ctment, as well as Count 3 of the second supersedi ng i ndi ct nent
(previously di smssed w thout prejudice), all subject toreinstatenent
only i f def endant seeks to vacate, voi d or ot herwi se wit hdrawhi s pl ea
of guilty.

19. Defendant understands that his conpliance with each part of
t hi s Pl ea Agreenent extends t hroughout and beyond t he peri od of his
sentence, and fail ure to abide by any termof the Pl ea Agreenent is a
viol ati on of the Agreenent. He further understands that inthe event
he vi ol at es thi s Agreenent, the governnment, at its option, nmay nove to
vacate the Pl ea Agreenent, rendering it null and void, and thereafter
prosecut e t he def endant not subject toany of thelimts set forthin
this Agreement, or to resentence the defendant. The defendant
under st ands and agrees that inthe event that this Pl ea Agreenent is
breached by t he def endant, and t he Governnent el ects to void the Pl ea

Agr eenent and prosecut e t he def endant, any prosecuti ons t hat are not

11



time-barred by the applicable statute of limtations onthe date of the
signing of this Agreenment may be comrenced agai nst t he def endant in
accordance wi th t hi s paragraph, notwi thstandi ng t he expiration of the
statute of limtations between the signing of this agreenent and t he
commencenent of such prosecutions.

20. Defendant and his attorney acknow edge that no threats,
prom ses, or representations have been nade, nor agreenents reached,
ot her than those set forthinthis Agreenent, to cause defendant to
pl ead guilty.

21. Defendant agrees this Pl ea Agreenment shall be fil ed and
become a part of the record in this case.

22. Shoul d the judge refuse to accept the defendant's pl ea of
guilty, this Agreenent shall become null and voi d and neither party

will be bound thereto.

12



23. Defendant acknow edges t hat he has read t hi s Agreenent and

carefully revi ened each provisionw th his attorney. Defendant further

acknow edges t hat he under st ands and vol untarily accepts each and every

term and condition of this Agreenent.

AGREED THI S DATE:

PATRI CK J. FI TZGERALD
United States Attorney

JOHN C. KOCORAS
Assi stant United States Attorney

DEBORAH L. STEI NER
Assi stant United States Attorney
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ENAAM M ARNAOUT
Def endant

JOSEPH J. DUFFY
Attorney for Defendant

W LLIAM P. Z| EGELMJELLER
Attorney for Defendant
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